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SUBJECT: CONFIRMATORY ORDER RELATED TO OYSTER CREEK NUCLEAR
GENERATING STATION — NRC INVESTIGATION REPORT 1-2020-007; NRC
INSPECTION REPORT NOS. 05000219/2021402 & 07200015/2021401

Dear Mr. Trice:

The enclosed Confirmatory Order is being issued to Holtec Decommissioning International, LLC
as a result of a successful alternative dispute resolution (ADR) mediation session. The
commitments in the Confirmatory Order were made by your representatives as part of a
settlement agreement between HDI and the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC). The
mediation and settlement agreement was related to apparent violations (AVs) of NRC
requirements at HDI's Oyster Creek Nuclear Generating Station (Oyster Creek) described in
Inspection Report Nos. 05000219/2021402 & 07200015/2021401 enclosed with an NRC letter
dated July 28, 2021 (ML21176A049)." The report documented the results of an investigation
that evaluated whether a (now-former) training superintendent at Oyster Creek, who was also
responsible for performing armorer duties, deliberately failed to perform firearms maintenance
activities and falsified records related to those activities.

In the July 28, 2021 letter, the NRC informed HDI that the NRC identified three AVs associated
with the investigation, and that two of the AVs were under consideration for escalated
enforcement action, including a civil penalty, in accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy.
In the letter, the NRC provided HDI the option of responding to the apparent violations in writing,
participating in a pre-decisional enforcement conference, or requesting ADR with the NRC in an
attempt to resolve the issue. In response to our letter, HDI requested ADR. An ADR mediation
session was consequently held on October 14, 2021, and a preliminary settlement agreement
was reached.

As evidenced by the signed “Consent and Hearing Waiver Form” (Enclosure 1), dated

January 19, 2022, you agreed to issuance of a Confirmatory Order (Enclosure 2). The
Confirmatory Order confirms the commitments made as part of the preliminary settlement
agreement. As part of this agreement, HD| has committed to a number of significant actions
that are expected to improve the security performance of the fleet. The NRC notes that, prior to

! Designation in parentheses refers to an Agency-wide Documents Access and Management System
(ADAMS) accession number. Unless otherwise noted, documents referenced in this letter are publicly-
available using the accession number in ADAMS.
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this ADR session, HDI initiated some measures to address the issues raised by the apparent
violations. The NRC will continue to monitor HDI’s progress in this area. As described in the
Confirmatory Order, in consideration of these commitments, the NRC agreed to issue a reduced
civil penalty of $50,000. HDI must pay the civil penalty in accordance with Section V of the-
Order.

The NRC will conduct follow-up inspections, as necessary, to ascertain whether the actions
taken by HDI to address the commitments of the Confirmatory Order, are complete and
effective. Our inspection activities will be guided by Inspection Procedure 92702, “Follow-up on
Traditional Enforcement Actions Including Violations, Deviations, Confirmatory Action Letters,
and Orders.”

Pursuant to Section 223 of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, any person who
willfully violates, attempts to violate, or conspires to violate, any provision of this Confirmatory
Order shall be subject to criminal prosecution as set forth in that section. Violation of this
Confirmatory Order may also subject the person to civil monetary penalty.

In accordance with Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR), Section 2.390, of the
NRC's “Rules of Practice,” a copy of this letter and its enclosures will be made available
electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room and from the NRC's
Agencywide Document Access and Management System (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC
Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html. The Confirmatory Order will also be
published in the Federal Register. The NRC also includes significant enforcement actions,
including Confirmatory Orders, on its Web site at hitp://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-
collections/enforcement/actions/.

Sincerely,
Digitally signed by
Raym o nd Raymond K. Lorson

Date: 2022.01.26
K. LOrson iyaas-os00
Raymond K. Lorson

Deputy Regional Administrator

Docket No. 50-219
License No. DPR-16

Enclosures:
1. Consent and Hearing Wavier
2. Confirmatory Order
3. Civil Penalty Invoice No. EA-21-041
4. NUREG/BR-0254, “Payment Methods”

cc: Distribution via ListServ
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CONSENT AND HEARING WAIVER FORM

Holtec Decommissioning Interational, LLC hereby agrees to comply with the terms and conditions
of Confirmatory Order arising out of an alternative dispute resolution process to be issued relating to
enforcement action No. EA-21-041. The Confirmatory Order will be immediately effective upon its
issuance. By signing below, Holtec Decommissioning International, LLC consents to the issuance
of the referenced Confirmatory Order, effective immediately upon its issuance and, by doing so,
agrees to waive the right to request a hearing on all or any part of the Confirmatory Order.

Digitally signed by Kelly Trice

DN: cn=Kelly Trice, c=US,
o=Holtac Dacommissioning
International, ou=HDI,

smail=k trice@haltec.com

Date: 2022.01.18 17:03:43 -05'00

Kelly Trice
President
Holtec Decommissioning International, LLC



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

In the Matter of
Holtec Decommissioning International, LLC ; 05000219
Oyster Creek Nuclear Generating Station ; DPR-16

; EA-21-041

CONFIRMATORY ORDER MODIFYING LICENSE

Holtec Decommissioning International, LLC (HDI or Licensee) is the holder of
Renewed Facility Operating License No. DPR-16 issued on June 3, 2009, by the U.S.
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC or Commission) pursuant to Part 50 of Title 10 of
the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR). The license authorizes the operation of
Oyster Creek Nuclear Generating Station (facility) in accordance with conditions
specified therein. The facility is located on the Licensee's site in Forked River, New

Jersey.

This Confirmatory Order is the result of an agreement reached during an
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) mediation session conducted by video conference

on October 14, 2021.

On March 13, 2020, the NRC Office of Investigations (Ol), Region | Fieid Office

opened an investigation (Ol Case No. 1-2020-007) at Oyster Creek. The investigation,



which was completed on March 11, 2021, evaluated whether a (now-former) training
superintendent at Oyster Creek, who was also responsible for performing armorer
duties, deliberately failed to perform firearms maintenance activities and falsified records
related to those activities. Based on the evidence gathered during the investigation, the
NRC determined that the armorer deliberately failed to perform certain required firearms
maintenance activities for calendar year 2019, that the armorer deliberately falsified
records related to these activities, and that these falsified records were submitted to the

NRC in response to an April 10, 2020, information request.

Specifically, the NRC identified that on the Licensee’s 2019 firearms
maintenance and testing logs that the Licensee submitted to the NRC in response to an
information request for an NRC security inspection, the fields for “date” and “performed
by” for annual material condition inspections were left blank, indicating to the NRC that
the Licensee did not conduct this activity. On March 16, 2020, the armorer told an NRC
Region | security inspector that Oyster Creek staff no longer performed this inspection
and that the procedure was being changed to remove the requirement. However, the
armorer acknowledged that the procedure change had not yet happened. Subsequently,
in response to an April 10, 2020, information request from Ol, the Licensee resubmitted
its firearms logs to the NRC, and the “date” and “performed by” fields were filled out,
which would indicate that the Licensee had completed the annual material condition
inspections. The armorer informed Ol that he filled in these fields after talking to the
NRC inspector. He stated that he probably did not perform the inspections but
maintained that he did not exactly remember what he did. The NRC determined that the
annual material inspections were not performed in 2019 due to the armorer’s deliberate
failure to perform them and that the armorer deliberately falsified the records provided to
the NRC to indicate that the inspections had been performed.
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The NRC concluded that the deliberate failure of the armorer to perform required
annual material condition inspections of firearms for calendar year 2019 caused the
Licensee to be in violation of Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) Part
73, Appendix B, Criterion VI.G, “Weapons, Personal Equipment, and Maintenance,” and
procedures required by the Commission-approved Oyster Creek Training and
Qualification Plan. Specifically, 10 CFR Part 73, Appendix B, Criterion VI.G, “Weapons,
Personal Equipment, and Maintenance,” Section 3(a), “Firearms maintenance program,”
requires that each Licensee shall implement a firearms maintenance and accountability
program in accordance with the Commission regulations and the Commission-approved
training and qualification plan. The program must include, in part: (1) Semiannual test
firing for accuracy and functionality; (2) Firearms maintenance procedures that include
cleaning schedules and cleaning requirements; (3) Program activity documentation; and
(4) Control and accountability (weapons and ammunition). The Oyster Creek Training
and Qualification Plan is Appendix B to the site’s Physical Security Plan. Section 20.5 of
Revision 18 of the Training and Qualification Plan states, in part, that a testing and
maintenance program for all assigned firearms is established to ensure that the firearms
and related accessories function as intended. The program is described in facility
procedures. Oyster Creek procedure SY-AA-150-103, Revision 0, “Firearms
Maintenance, Testing, and Accountability,” constitutes the facility procedure for the
testing, cleaning, and inspecting of security weapons. Step 4.2.4.2 states, in part,
annually, perform the material condition inspection on all duty firearms. Step 2.3, in

terms and definitions, defines "annual" as once per calendar year.

The NRC determined that the armorer’s deliberate actions also caused the
Licensee to provide information to the NRC regarding the annual material inspections of
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firearms that was not complete and accurate in all material respects, contrary to 10 CFR
50.9(a). Specifically, 10 CFR 50.9(a) requires, in part, that information provided to the
Commission by a Licensee or information required by the Commission's regulations to
be maintained by the Licensee shall be complete and accurate in all material respects.
10 CFR 73.70(e) states, in part, that each Licensee subject to the provisions of 10 CFR
73.55 shall keep documentation of all tests, inspections, and maintenance performed on
security related equipment used pursuant to the requirements of this part for three years
from the date of documenting the event. 10 CFR 73.55(a)(1) indicates that the Section
applies to nuclear power reactor licensees that are licensed under 10 CFR Part 50.
Logs submitted to the NRC in response to an April 10, 2020, information request
documented that annual material condition inspections had been performed on each of
the Licensee’s duty firearms; however, the Licensee had not performed the inspections.
This information is material to the NRC because the NRC requires testing and
maintenance of weapons to ensure they are in acceptable working condition. Accurate
recordkeeping of such activities ensures that the weapons maintenance program is

fulfilling these requirements.

Through the investigation, the NRC also identified a third violation involving the
failure by the armorer to perform required biennial firearms parts replacement. The NRC
did not find sufficient evidence to conclude that this failure was willful. However, the
failure caused the Licensee to be in violation of 10 CFR Part 73, Appendix B, Criterion
VLG, “Weapons, Personal Equipment, and Maintenance,” Section 3(a), “Firearms
maintenance program,” which requires that each Licensee shall implement a firearms
maintenance and accountability program in accordance with the Commission regulations
and the Commission-approved training and qualification plan. The program must
include, in part: (1) Semiannual test firing for accuracy and functionality; (2) Firearms
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maintenance procedures that include cleaning schedules and cleaning requirements; (3)
Program activity documentation; and (4) Control and accountability (weapons and
ammunition). The Oyster Creek Training and Qualification Plan is Appendix B to the
site’s Physical Security Plan. Section 20.5 of Revision 18 of the Training and
Qualification Plan states, in part, that a testing and maintenance program for all
assigned firearms is established to ensure that the firearms and related accessories
function as intended. The program is described in facility procedures. Oyster Creek
procedure SY-AA-150-103, Revision 0, “Firearms Maintenance, Testing, and
Accountability,” constitutes the facility procedure for the testing, cleaning, and inspecting
of security weapons. Step 4.2.5, states, replace the following components on duty rifles
biennially: hammer spring, trigger spring, disconnector spring, extractor spring, ejector
spring, and gas rings. SY-AA-150-103-F-04, Rifle Material Condition Inspection/
Functionality/ Accuracy Tests states, in part, biennially, replace the following
components on contingency rifles and note this as being completed in the weapons

maintenance log. Step 2.7 defines "biennial" as at least once every two years.

By letter, dated July 28, 2021 (Agencywide Documents Access and Management
System (ADAMS) Accession No. ML21176A049), the NRC notified the Licensee of the
results of the investigation with an opportunity to: (1) provide a response in writing, (2)
attend a predecisional enforcement conference or (3) to participate in an ADR mediation

session in an effort to resolve this matter

In response to the NRC's offer, the Licensee requested the use of the NRC’s
ADR process to resolve differences it had with the NRC. On October 14, 2021, the NRC
and the Licensee met in an ADR session mediated by a professional mediator, arranged

through Cornell University’s Institute on Conflict Resolution. The ADR process is one in
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which a neutral mediator, with no decision-making authority, assists the parties in
reaching an agreement on resolving any differences regarding the dispute. This
Confirmatory Order is issued pursuant to the agreement reached during the ADR

process.

During the ADR session, the Licensee and the NRC reached a preliminary
settlement agreement. The elements of the agreement include the following:
Whereas, the NRC acknowledges that HDI has taken several corrective actions in
response to the violations at Oyster Creek Nuclear Generating Station (Oyster Creek) so

as to preclude the occurrence of similar violations in the future. These actions include:

1. Denying the former superintendent’s unescorted access authorization and denoting
his entry in the Personnel Access Data System to indicate that there is additional

information.

2. Performing an internal fact-finding and accountability investigation and an apparent

cause evaluation, which resulted in the following corrective measures:

a. Revising the firearms maintenance, testing, and accountability procedure to

remove the requirement to replace parts biennially;

b. Completing the initial development of an electronic application that will track
weapons upon their removal from their assigned positions;
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c. Holding face-to-face meetings between the Oyster Creek Security Manager and
site armorers to ensure understanding of procedural requirements, complete and
accurate recordkeeping, and accurate ammunition accounting, including logging

unused ammunition returned to the armory after range activities;

d. Conducting, over a two-month period, spot checks of security personnel logging
security weapons, ammunition, and equipment into and out of the armory and

performing ammunition counts.

3. Creating the position of Fleet Director of Security Operations and appointing an

experienced nuclear security manager to the position as a concurrent role.

4. |Initiating development of a standardized set of fleet security procedures.

Therefore, the parties agree to the following terms and conditions:

1. Terms and Conditions to be taken by HDI:

A. Items to Assure Restoration of Compliance:

1. Within 60 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall prepare a

report of the maintenance status of all in-service and contingency weapons

that are onsite at Oyster Creek as of the date of the Confirmatory Order. The

report shall specify the dates on which each weapon was last test-fired,

cleaned, serviced, and inspected. Within 30 days of completing this action,
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B.

HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete by sending a letter to the
Region | Administrator and shall make the report available to the NRC for

review during an inspection:

Within 180 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall complete a
root cause evaluation of the events related to the violations at Oyster Creek
described in this Confirmatory Order in accordance with HDI’s corrective
action program. Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform
the NRC that the action is complete by sending a letter to the Region |
Administrator and shall make the evaluation available to the NRC for review

during an inspection.

Within 180 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall review its
process for performing and recording in-service and out-of-service weapons
maintenance. The review shall include a comparison of Oyster Creek’s
process versus other nuclear sites, including at least one non-HDI nuclear
site. The evaluation shall identify best practices and consider any changes
needed at Oyster Creek and specify any identified corrective actions. Within
30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is
complete by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the

results of the evaluation available to the NRC for review during an inspection.

Items to Address Wrongdoing:

1.

Within 60 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall communicate
this issue to the security personnel at Oyster Creek and other HDI

8



d;acommissioning nuclear reactor sites. The communication (which ma;y be
verbal or via written communication) will be conducted by the president of
HDI and shall specify that wrongdoing and falsification of records are
unacceptable and shall also explain the specific actions staff must take when
unable to complete required activities. Within 30 days of completing this
action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete by sending a
letter to the Region | Administrator. The letter shall also describe the content

of the communication.

2. Within 180 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI will conduct
training to be given to Security personnel at each of HDI's nuclear sites. The
training will: (a) emphasize the importance of complete and accurate
information for all required records, correspondence, and communications
with the NRC and its staff, (b) emphasize individual accountability and clearly
express that willful or deliberate failures to comply with regulations, orders, or
license requirements could resuit in significant individual enforcement by the
NRC; and (c) reinforce that if any individual recognizes a non-compliance,
they will immediately report the observation of the non-compliance. Within 30
days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is
complete by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the

training materials available to the NRC for review during an inspection.
C. Items to Address Armorer Function Weaknesses:
1. Within 240 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall evaluate its

implementation of the armorer function at Oyster Creek. The evaluation shall
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include review of the staffing and responsibilities of the position, the
methodology for tracking weapons maintenance status and activities, and
supervisory involvement in verifying completion of required activities. The
evaluation shall also include a comparison of HDI's weapons maintenance
processes versus other nuclear reactor sites, including at least one non-HDI
nuclear reactor site. The evaluation shall identify best practices and consider
any changes needed at Oyster Creek and specify any identified corrective
actions. Within 30 days of completing this action, HD! shall inform the NRC
that the action is complete by sending a Iettef to the Region | Administrator
and shall make the results of the evaluation available to the NRC for review

during an inspection.

Within 90 days of completing the evaluation described in Item C.1, HDI shall
communicate (which may be verbal or in writing) to HDI Security
management staff at Oyster Creek the resuits of the evaluation and any
completed or pending corrective actions. Within 30 days of completing this
action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete by sending a
letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the content of the

communication available to the NRC for review during an inspection.

D. Items to Address Implementation of Security Program at Oyster Creek:

1.

Within 365 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HD! shall administer
training to HDI and Holtec Security International, LLC (HSI) Security staff at
Oyster Creek that focuses on roles and expectations and that reinforces
HDI’s responsibility for assuring regulatory compliance. The training shall
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also include any insights developed from the root cause evaluation described
in Item A.2. Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the
NRC that the action is complete by sending a letter to the Region |
Administrator and shall make the training materials available to the NRC for

review during an inspection.

. Within 365 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall evaluate the
Oyster Creek security program to include the program’s organizational
effectiveness, the quality and effectiveness of site security procedures, the
security organization’s staffing, training, and communication of standards,
expectations, management engagement and oversight, performance
management, and the results of the root cause evaluation. The evaluation
shall also include a review of the clarity for the security staff about lines of
responsibility and reporting, and the performance and quality of how
individual job performance restilts are evaluated, documented, and
communicated. The results of the evaluation shall be placed in the Oyster
Creek corrective action program. The evaluation team shall be comprised of
no more than 50% HDI or HS| employees and the remaining participants
shall be from an outside organization (such as a utility or industry group)
including a safety culture expert, external to HDI and HSI. Within 30 days of
completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete
by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the results of
the evaluation and any related corrective actions available to the NRC for

review during an inspection.
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E. Items to Address Corporate Security Oversight

1.

Within 90 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall install a Fleet
Security Director position with sole responsibility for oversight of the security
operations at all HDI nuclear sites. The Site Security Leads shall report to
the Fleet Security Director and the Fleet Security Director shall report to the
HDI President. Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the
NRC that the action is complete by sending a letter to the Region |
Administrator. HDI shall maintain an individual in this position for a period of
5 years after the date of the Confirmatory Order or until fuel at all HDI nuclear

sites is in dry storage, whichever is sooner.

Within 365 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall effect an
evaluation of HDI's implementation of the corporate security program. The
evaluation team shall be comprised of no more than 50% HDI or HSI
employees, and the remaining participants shall be from an outside
organization (such as a utility or an industry group). The evaluation shall
assess HSI's and HDI's corporate security staffing resources, direct and
indirect oversight, and performance management. The evaluation shall
review the fleet irriplementation of the security programs at each HDI site to
identify areas of strengths and weaknesses. Within 30 days of completing
this action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete by sending a
letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the results of the

evaluation available to the NRC for review during an inspection.
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F. Effectiveness Reviews

1.

Within 90 days of completion of the evaluation described in D.2, HDI shall
complete the first of four quarterly reviews of the effectiveness of the Oyster
Creek security program and the corrective actions implemented in response
to this issue. Within 30 days of completing each review, HDI shall inform the
NRC of the completion of the review by sending a letter to the Region |

Administrator.

The effectiveness reviews discussed in ltem F.1 shall be conducted by a
team that includes at least one individual from outside the HDI or HSI
organization. For a period of one year after completion of the fourth review,
the documented effectiveness reviews shall be made available to the NRC for

review during an inspection.

G. External Communication

A. By December 31, 2023, HDI shall discuss this issue, including the results of

all of the above-listed evaluations and resulting corrective actions, to the
following industry working groups: a) the 2023 National Nuclear Security
Conference; and b) Region | Nuclear Security Association. The discussion
shall include reference to any identified organizational weaknesses that HDI
determined contributed to the issue. Within 30 days of completing each
discussion, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete by sending a

letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the presentation materials
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available to the NRC for one year after the presentation for review during an

inspection.

2. Terms and Conditions to be taken by NRC:

A. The NRC agrees to issue a reduced civil penalty in the amount of $50,000.

B. The NRC agrees to not issue a separate Notice of Violation in addition to the
Confirmatory Order but, rather, to describe the violations in the body of the
Order instead.

C. The NRC agrees to include the following statement in the Confirmatory Order
and related communications (i.e., press release). As part of this agreement,
HDI has committed to a number of significant actions that are éxpected to
improve the security performance of the fleet. The NRC notes that, prior to
this ADR session, HDI initiated some measures to address the issues raised
by the apparent violation. The NRC will continue to monitor HDI's progress in
this area.

D. For the NRC’s future civil penalty assessment purposes as discussed in the
NRC Enforcement Policy, the NRC agrees that the issuance of this

Confirmatory Order will not be considered as escalated enforcement.

On January 19, 2022, HDI consented to issuing this Confirmatory Order with the
commitments, as described in Section V below. HDI further agreed that this
Confirmatory Order is to be effective upon issuance, the agreement memorialized in this
Confirmatory Order settles the matter between the parties, and that it has waived its right

to a hearing.
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HDI has committed to a number of significant actions that are expected to
improve the security performance of the fleet. The NRC notes that, prior to the ADR
session, HDI initiated some measures to address the issues raised by the apparent
violations. The NRC will continue to monitor HDI’s progress in this area. | find that
HDI’s actions completed, as described in Section 11l above, combined with the
commitments as set forth in Section V are acceptable and necessary, and conclude that,

with these commitments, the public health and safety are reasonably assured.

In view of the foregoing, | have determined that public health and safety require
that HDI's commitments be confirmed by this Confirmatory Order. Based on the above

and HDI's consent, this Confirmatory Order is effective upon issuance.

Accordingly, pursuant to Sections 81, 104b, 161b, 161i, 1610, 182 and 186 of the
Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, and the Commission's regulations in 10 CFR
2.202, 10 CFR Part 50, 10 CFR Part 72, and 10 CFR Part 73, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED, EFFECTIVE UPON ISSUANCE, THAT LICENSE NO. DPR-16 IS

MODIFIED AS FOLLOWS:

A. Items to Assure Restoration of Compliance:

1. Within 60 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall prepare a report

of the maintenance status of all in-service and contingency weapons that are
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onsite at Oyster Creek as of the date of the Confirmatory Order. The report shall
specify the dates on which each weapon was last test-fired, cleaned, serviced,
and inspected. Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the
NRC that the action is complete by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator

and shall make the report available to the NRC for review during an inspection.

. Within 180 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall complete a root
cause evaluation of the events related to the violations at Oyster Creek described
in this Confirmatory Order in accordance with HDI’s corrective action program.
Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action
is complete by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the

evaluation available to the NRC for review during an inspection.

. Within 180 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall review its
process for performing and recording in-service and out-of-service weapons
maintenance. The review shall include a comparison of Oyster Creek’s process
versus other nuclear sites, including at least one non-HDI nuclear site. The
evaluation shall identify best practices and consider any changes needed at
Oyster Creek and specify any identified corrective actions. Within 30 days of
completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete by
sending a letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the results of the

evaluation available to the NRC for review during an inspection.
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B.

Items to Address Wrongdoing:

1.

Within 60 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall communicate this
issue to the security personnel at Oyster Creek and other HDI decommissioning
nuclear reactor sites. The communication (which may be verbal or via written
communication) will be conducted by the president of HDI and shall specify that
wrongdoing and falsification of records are unacceptable and shall also explain
the specific actions staff must take when unable to complete required activities.
Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action
is complete by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator. The letter shall also

describe the content of the communication.

Within 180 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI will conduct training
to be given to Security personnel at each of HDI's nuclear sites. The training will:
(a) emphasize the importance of complete and accurate information for all
required records, correspondence, and communications with the NRC and its
staff; (b) emphasize individual accountability and clearly express that willful or
deliberate failures to comply with regulations, orders, or license requirements
could result in significant individual enforcement by the NRC; and (c) reinforce
that if any individual recognizes a non-compliance, they will immediately report
the observation of the non-compliance. Within 30 days of completing this action,
HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete by sending a letter to the
Region | Administrator and shall make the training materials available to the NRC

for review during an inspection.
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C.

ltems to Address Armorer Function Weaknesses:

. Within 240 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall evaluate its

implementation of the armorer function at Oyster Creek. The evaluation shall

include review of the staffing and responsibilities of the position, the methodology

for tracking weapons maintenance status and activities, and supervisory

involvement in verifying completion of required activities. The evaluation shall
also include a comparison of HDI's weapons maintenance processes versus
other nuclear reactor sites, including at least one non-HDI nuclear reactor site.
The evaluation shall identify best practices and consider any changes needed at
Oyster Creek and specify any identified corrective actions. Within 30 days of
completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete by
sending a letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the results of the

evaluation available to the NRC for review during an inspection.

. Within 90 days of completing the evaluation described in ltem C.1, HDI shall

communicate (which may be verbal or in writing) to HDI Security management
staff at Oyster Creek the results of the evaluation and any completed or pending
corrective actions. Within 30 days of completing this action, HD! shall inform the
NRC that the action is complete by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator
and shall make the content of the communication available to the NRC for review

during an inspection.
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D. ltems to Address Implementation of Security Program at Oyster Creek:

1.

Within 365 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall administer
training to HDI and Holtec Security International, LLC (HSI) Security staff at
Oyster Creek that focuses on roles and expectations and that reinforces HDI's
responsibility for assuring regulatory compliance. The training shall also include
any insights developed from the root cause evaluation described in ltem A.2.
Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action
is complete by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the

training materials available to the NRC for review during an inspection.

Within 365 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall evaluate the
Oyster Creek security program to include the program’s organizational
effectiveness, the quality and effectiveness of site security procedures, the
security organization’s staffing, training, and communication of standards,
expectations, management engagement and oversight, performance
management, and the results of the root cause evaluation. The evaluation shall
also include a review of the clarity for the security staff about lines of
responsibility and reporting, and the performance and quality of how individual
job performance results are evaluated, documented, and communicated. The
results of the evaluation shall be placed in the Oyster Creek corrective action
program. The evaluation team shall be comprised of no more than 50% HDI or
HSI employees and the remaining participants shall be from an outside
organization (such as a utility or industry group) including a safety culture expert,
external to HDI and HSI. Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall
inform the NRC that the action is complete by sending a letter to the Region |
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Administrator and shall make the results of the evaluation and any related

corrective actions available to the NRC for review during an inspection.

E. Items to Address Corporate Security Oversight

1.

Within 90 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall install a Fleet
Security Director position with sole responsibility for oversight of the security
operations at all HDI nuclear sites. The Site Security Leads shall report to the
Fleet Security Director and the Fleet Security Director shall report to the HDI
President. Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC
that the action is complete by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator. HDI
shall maintain an individual in this position for a period of 5 years after the date of
the Confirmatory Order or until fuel at all HDI nuclear sites is in dry storage,

whichever is sooner.

Within 365 days of the date of the Confirmatory Order, HDI shall effect an
evaluation of HDI's implementation of the corporate security program. The
evaluation team shall be comprised of no more than 50% HDI or HSI employees,
and the remaining participants shall be from an outside organization (such as a
utility or an industry group). The evaluation shall assess HSI's and HDI's
corporate security staffing resources, direct and indirect oversight, and
performance management. The evaluation shall review the fleet implementation
of the security programs at each HDI site to identify areas of strengths and
weaknesses. Within 30 days of completing this action, HDI shall inform the NRC

that the action is complete by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator and
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shall make the results of the evaluation available to the NRC for review during an

inspection.
F. Effectiveness Reviews

1. Within 90 days of completion of the evaluation described in D.2, HDI shall
complete the first of four quarterly reviews of the éffectiveness of the Oyster
Creek security program and the corrective actions implemented in response to
this issue. Within 30 days of completing each review, HDI shall inform the NRC

of the completion of the review by sending a letter to the Region | Administrator.

2. The effectiveness reviews discussed in ltem F.1 shall be conducted by a team
that includes at least one individual from outside the HDI or HSI organization.
For a period of one year after completion of the fourth review, the documented
effectiveness reviews shall be made available to the NRC for review during an

inspection.
G. External Communication

1. By December 31, 2023, HDI shall discuss this issue, including the results of all of the
above-listed evaluations and resulting corrective actions, to the following industry
working groups: a) the 2023 National Nuclear Security Conference; and b) Region One
Nuclear Security Association. The discussion shall include reference to any identified
organizational weaknesses that HDI determined contributed to the issue. Within 30 days

of completing each discussion, HDI shall inform the NRC that the action is complete by
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sending a letter to the Region | Administrator and shall make the presentation materials

available to the NRC for one year after the presentation for review during an inspection.

H. Civil Penalty

1. Within 30 days of the date of issuance of the Confirmatory Order, HDI will pay a civil

penalty of $50,000 through one of the following two methods:

a. Submit the payment with the enclosed invoice to this Order (EA-21-041) to the

following address:

Office of the Chief Financial Officer
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
P.O. Box 979051

St. Louis, MO 63197

OR

b. Submit the payment in accordance with NUREG/BR-0254.

In addition, at the time payment is made, the licensee shall submit a statement indicating

when and by what method payment was made, to the Director, Office of Enforcement,
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U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, One White Flint North, 11555 Rockville Pike,

Rockville, MD 20852-2738.

This agreement is binding upon successors and assigns of HDI. The Regional
Administrator, Region | may, in writing, relax or rescind any of the above conditions upon

demonstration by HDI or its successors of good cause.

Vi

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.202 and 10 CFR 2.309, any person adversely affected by
this Confirmatory Order, other than HDI, may request a hearing within thirty (30) calendar days
of the date of issuance of this Confirmatory Order. Where good cause is shown, consideration
will be given to extending the time to request a hearing. A request for extension of time must be
made in writing to the Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission,

Washington, DC 20555, and include a statement of good cause for the extension.

All documents filed in NRC adjudicatory proceedings, including a request for hearing and
petition for leave to intervene (petition), any motion or other document filed in the proceeding
prior to the submission of a request for hearing or petition to intervene, and documents filed by
interested governmental entities that request to participate under 10 CFR 2.315(c), must be filed
in accordance with the NRC's E-Filing rule (72 FR 49139; August 28, 2007, as amended at 77

FR 46562; August 3, 2012). The E-Filing process requires participants to submit and serve all

23



adjudicatory documents over the internet, or in some cases to mail copies on electronic storage
media. Detailed guidance on making electronic submissions may be found in the Guidance for

Electronic Submissions to the NRC and on the NRC Web site at https://www.nrc.gov/site-help/e-

submittals.html. Participants may not submit paper copies of their filings unless they seek an

exemption in accordance with-the procedures described below.

To comply with the procedural requirements of E-Filing, at least 10 days prior to the filing
deadline, the participant should contact the Office of the Secretary by e-mail at

hearing.docket@nrc.gov, or by telephone at 301-415-1677, to (1) request a digital identification

(ID) certificate, which allows the participant (or its counsel or representative) to digitally sign
submissions and access the E-Filing system for any proceeding in which it is participating; and
(2) advise the Secretary that the participant will be submitting a petition or other adjudicatory
document (even in instances in which the participant, or its counsel or representative, already
holds an NRC-issued digital ID certificate). Based upon this information, the Secretary will
establish an electronic docket for the hearing in this proceeding if the Secretary has not already

established an electronic docket.

Information about applying for a digital ID certificate is available on the NRC'’s public

Web site at https://www.nrc.gov/site-help/e-submittals/getting-started.html. Once a participant

has obtained a digital ID certificate and a docket has been created, the participant can then
submit adjudicatory documents. Submissions must be in Portable Document Format (PDF).

Additional guidance on PDF submissions is available on the NRC'’s public Web site at
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https://www.nrc.qov/site-help/electronic-sub-ref-mat.html. A filing is considered complete at the

time the document is submitted through the NRC’s E-Filing system. To be timely, an electronic
filing must be submitted to the E-Filing system no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on the due
date. Upon receipt of a transmission, the E-Filing system time-stamps the document and sends
the submitter an e-mail notice confirming receipt of the document. The E-Filing system also
distributes an e-mail notice that provides access to the document to the NRC’s Office of the
General Counsel and any others who have advised the Office of the Secretary that they wish to
participate in the proceeding, so that the filer need not serve the document on those participants
separately. Therefore, applicants and other participants (or their counsel or representative)
must apply for and receive a digital ID certificate before adjudicatory documents are filed so that

they can obtain access to the documents via the E-Filing system.

A person filing electronically using the NRC's adjudicatory E-Filing system may seek
assistance by contacting the NRC'’s Electronic Filing Help Desk through the “Contact Us” link

located on the NRC'’s public Web site at https:/www.nrc.gov/site-help/e-submittals. htmi, by

e-mail to MSHD.Resource@nrc.qgov, or by a toll-free call at 1-866-672-7640. The NRC

Electronic Filing Help Desk is available between 9 a.m. and 6 p.m., Eastern Time, Monday

through Friday, excluding government holidays.

Participants who believe that they have a good cause for not submitting documents
electronically must file an exemption request, in accordance with 10 CFR 2.302(g), with their

initial paper filing stating why there is good cause for not filing electronically and requesting
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authorization to continue to submit documents in paper format. Such filings must be submitted
by: (1) first-class mail addressed to the Office of the Secretary of the Commission, U.S. Nuclear
Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555-0001, Attention: Rulemaking and
Adjudications Staff; or (2) courier, express mail, or expedited delivery service to the Office of the
Secretary, 11555 Rockville Pike, Rockville, Maryland 20852, Attention: Rulemaking and
Adjudications Staff. Participants filing adjudicatory documents in this manner are responsible
for serving the document on all other participants. Filing is considered complete by first-class
mail as of the time of deposit in the mail, or by courier, express mail, or expedited delivery
service upon depositing the document with the provider of the service. A presiding officer,
having granted an exemption request from using E-Filing, may require a participant or party to
use E-Filing if the presiding officer subsequently determines that the reason for granting the

exemption from use of E-Filing no longer exists.

Documents submitted in adjudicatory proceedings will appear in the NRC's electronic

hearing docket which is available to the public at https://adams.nrc.qov/ehd, unless excluded

pursuant to an order of the Commission or the presiding officer. If you do not have an NRC-
issued digital ID certificate as described above, click “cancel” when the link requests certificates
and you will be automatically directed to the NRC'’s electronic hearing dockets where you will be
able to access any publicly available documents in a particular hearing docket. Participants are
requested not to include personal privacy information, such as social security numbers, home
addresses, or personal phone numbers in their filings, unless an NRC regulation or other law

requires submission of such information. For example, in some instances, individuals provide
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home addresses in order to demonstrate proximity to a facility or site. With respect to
copyrighted works, except for limited excerpts that serve the purpose of the adjudicatory filings
and would constitute a Fair Use application, participants are requested not to include

copyrighted materials in their submission.

The Commission will issue a notice or order granting or denying a hearing request or
intervention petition, designating the issues for any hearing that will be held and designating the
presiding officer. A notice granting a hearing will be published in the Federal Register and

served on the parties to the hearing.

If a person (other than HDI) requests a hearing, that person shall set forth with
particularity the manner in which his interest is adversely affected by this Confirmatory Order

and shall address the criteria set forth in 10 CFR 2.309(d) and (f).

If a hearing is requested by a person whose interest is adversely affected, the
Commission will issue an order designating the time and place of any hearings. If a hearing is
held, the issue to be considered at such hearing shall be whether this Confirmatory Order

should be sustained.

In the absence of any request for hearing, or written approval of an extension of time in
which to request a hearing, the provisions specified in Section V above shall be final 30 days

from the date of this Confirmatory Order without further order or proceedings. If an extension of
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time for requesting a hearing has been approved, the provisions specified in Section V shall be

final when the extension expires if a hearing request has not been received.

For the Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Raym on d Digitally signed by

Raymond K. Lorson
Date: 2022.01.26

. LOrson 15uas0 o500

Deputy Regional Administrator
NRC Region |

Dated this 26th day of January, 2022,

28



T Jo T abed

“(aunyooug spoylsp sjuswied um;umrm 28s) poylaw juswdAed inoA uo Jjoquinu

SJusiIdjal siy} spnjoul dses|d “Jeucijeuisju| BuluolssiwwodaQ 98}ioH 0} panssi ‘L y0-1.Z-v3 Jepun pasoduu Jo pasodoud Ajjeusd |IA1D 8y} 0} pajejes S| 9910AU) SIY |

"pouad Juswifed Aep-0g¢ ay) uiypm Aed o} awp |Jeuoiippe

10} 3s8nbal al) maIAs1 O} BLU DUN SUY} MOJ[E 0} BLI} JO pesye Afuaidyns PSRILQNS 8q pinoys pue ‘AcB-0Iu@e0inosay'suonas|ioDIHN O} ‘uonesyysnf ajendoidde

Uam ‘Bunum ui papiwgns aq Jsnw so1oaul ue Aed o} aw jeuolIppe 10 sysenbau |y “sjeudoidde y ‘JuswasiBe Juswiieisul ue oyl Jsjus o) uoido sy} Buipnou

‘freusd a0 ey Aed o} suny [euonippe oy jsenbei B J8pisuod Aew QYN YL "99NION Y} Ut SUCKONIISU BY) Mojjo} sseald ‘Ajeund A1) & Jo uomsodw) pasodold pue
UCHEBIOIA JO 810N e 0} asuodsal uj s Jushed §| “ajep JopiO ay) Jo sfep og uiyum fjeusad pain ayy Aed o) palinbal sl Jeuoneuwssju| Buluoissiwwosaq 29)j0H ‘Aleusad
D e Buisodwi| JapiQ Ue o} psjejes S| 9910AUl SIY} H 'S1 {4 01 PuB S0L-LOL ¥AD ¥ 'LLLE "O'S'N LE @85 ‘suoisinoid Ayeuad pue isatejul Buipnjou; ‘sainpasoud

UORO8]I03 Jqep DYN 104 A0 Iu@)soInosey 's89 Je [lews Aq J0 v55/-GLP (L0g) 1e youelg suofeladQ pue sediAIag [BISUBUI4 DN Y3 19BJU0D ‘suonsanb 104

Sjusuuwod
00°0$ felol ypaid 161€9 OW SN0 IS
000 upaI) pajjddeun 150626 X089 "O'd
00°0% upa1Q payddy uoissjwwog AlojeinBay JeajanN ‘s
Arewwng ypai 182140 [epuUBUL JOIYD) B} JO WO
SS2IPPY 0) Wy
00°000°05$ _ang unowy
co.o sjusluisnipy AoB'2Iu@o0Inosay 'soa :SSaIppY Jewg
ok KRS  SErSLrLoE aqUINN Xe 4
00°0 pejasIiod - :Joquin auoy
00°000'05$ Junowy g vESLSLy-l0e -JaquinN suoud H/ZEFZ00000T :9peQ JUN00Y
000 SabIeUD UWpY SN Pejun $9p02 Jawolsny
000 sobley) Aleuaq
00°0 sobleys isasay| )
000 abieyoing mojag sjuBWWO) asg :|jeg ang 0180 N ‘Uspwen
000 unossig 00°000'0S$ ‘ang unowy QA9 D3LT0H L
00°000'05% sobieys femuy WO-Le-va Jaquunn g feuopeuau| BuuoIssIWLIOIaQ 93)joH
Arewwng g uonewuoju] |1ig uoljewnioju] Jawoysno/ssalppy

€e0c/so/L




Z Jo z abied

:pasojoug Junowy

00°000'05% :ang junowy Bujpueising
L$0-12-v3
) :[1g Buimojjoy sy saduaiayey Juswihed siyL

L6LE9 OW ‘sinoT 118

160616 Xod "O'd

uoissiwwo) Atojeinbay sespnp ‘s'n
J90UJ0 [eldueuld JaIYD 3y} 30 WO

UOHEWIOJU| SIUBIHWDY

@uoyd

i$salppy jo abueyn

#0180 PN ‘uspwe)d

aA1g8 D3410H L

[euonews)u| BuluoISSILLLODa] 93)j0H
L/1ZEP2000001

uoljewoju| J8WolIsns



SPOYISIA
IUswIAeJ

AT, I agr g apdaay Siceiroana )

DUNS 2

AOBOUNG

N & 3] o @ () B

6L0¢ sunp
6 A3y 'pGe0-Ha/93UNN

S
4 @)
& %
Nogy wi>

v652-GLy {10S) Hd
1000-6G502 DA ‘uolbuiysem
013-6-1 dois ey
84v/900/0490
NOISSININOI AHOL1yTNHIY dvITONN SN

1000-65502 9@ ‘uiBuiysem

013-61 dois [rejy

44v/300/0400

NOISSININGD AYOLYING3Y YYIONN SN

‘Mojaq ssaIppe ayy 03 Bunum Aq 10 ‘pS52-GLY (10E)
Je suoyd £g ‘rof-Aunsealy’[easy@alu 1e |rew-3 Aq ysaq djaH
9]qeAI308Y SIUNGADY JHN B} 0} PajaalIp aq os|e Aew SUNSany

.'$834 asu8dI, 10}
yoseas pue Aob-ouummmy/:sdiy 1sia ases|d ‘suopsanb aney noA )|




“¥552-G1 (108) 18 ¥saq

q_w_._ 9|qenla0ay SIUN0JIY HYN 8yl a:___mu >n 10 ,1€6 wio4 04N, 40}
Buyaseas Aq Ach-aturmmar/:dny 12 sus gam 9YN 8y} WoJj 166 wio4
OHN Uie1qo Aew noA “NIL JnoA apiaoid 0} LEG wio4 DHN asf

"OHN 8 Y (NIL) Jsquiny uoneaynuap] Jefedxe] JnoA e 1snw no

HAGANN

NOILYDIH1LNIQ HTANL

L01E9 O ‘sinoT IS

©ze|d UONUIAUOY G001
19¢3-0N-1S

X0QX907 JUSLUUISAOY) Yueg SN
uojssiwwoy A1ojeinbay Jeajonp ‘s

‘ssaippe Buimoj|o} 8y 0} pasaniap 8q 1snw sBulgrew 1yBjuIsAo 1o X3pad

0006-261£9 OW ‘sino7 11§

150626 x0g "0d

queg ‘g

uojssiwwog Aiojenbay seajon 'g'n

:ssa1ppe Buimo|jo) sy} 0} 399y 3y} I

9842 8L} uo uanLIM ‘Jualuked 8y S3IUBP] JeY) UOHBULIOIUI JAULO 10
“13qUINU UOIY JUBLIS0IOLUT 1OGUINY FDI0AUI SLf} UM UOISSIWII0Y)
KiojeinBay Jeajony *gn sy} 03 sjqefed spews aq pinoys syoeys

¥DIHD A9 INSNAVE

“Repyiom 1x8u ay)

U0 papi02al aq jiim ysodap sy} ‘asImIaul0 183 “Wrd b Aq yueg aniasay
[B18D84 J10A M8N 8y} Je PanIadal 8q ISNLL JaJSUEI] SU} “Aep auses aify uo
P8pi0JaJ 8q 0} SHUBQ 8AI8SAY [218D8 [eI0] LIC.) SPUN JO JBJSUEL] € 104

“jueg aAIasaY [eIspay (eso] oy

0} SpUN} PUE UDJIBLLIOJUI B} JAJSUBI ISHLI UYL YIIYM “YURg Jaqusw B
01 Spun) pue uoeLLIoJ) AIBSSBIBU BU) 13JSUB.) 1SNL YUBG JAGUIAWILOU
8U} ‘WaIsAS aAIasaY [e12pa4 U} JO JaqLUIBLU € JOU S| YU S,935U39]| 3L} J)

“I0¥ealpul =190, 3L} Buwmolo) uoneuroju)
40 Suopisod JBI0BIRLD §1Z MO|[E [IM ‘3A0GE LMOYS ‘Jewio) wnuido ay)

=190 100000 }€-3v/=dNE/HLI/IAN SVIHL

SMOJj0}
SB S1 9Ty U6Ip-g ue Buisn |, pue ‘6 ‘g *Z spjey Jop et} wnuwipdo ay)

"Piel s1y1 U padejd aq PINOYS—aLLIB 9BSUBDY| PUB ‘89) [ENUUE /| U490l
‘89} JO uondiasap “Jaquinu a9j0AU| 894 [enuue gy ‘sjdwexa Jo)—ysodap
9u} Ajiiuap] 0} JHN 4} ajqeua 03 papualU] uonRWLIONI BUIKIILSP! 15410 |1y
"Wel ALed-pily) w0p-531 3y Jo BuluuBeq ayy sayiubis =g, be) pioy (190)
uoneuioju] Arejayauag o1 101euiBHO 8y - NOLLYWHOINI ALYYd-OHIKL @

100000 1L8-0V/=dNg s
07V UDIP-g S.OHN 8y "sageds AUe UIEIUOS J0UUED PUE AU SO UD 3q JSAL

.=4Ng, 08} play ayy ‘IOABMOY ‘aulj IXaU 8y} uo pue pue aujy) auo uo uifaq
‘Aress838U J) ‘Ued 8ouNbas UOKLIYALAP! OV YL ADNIDY LVIYIOHddY
3H1 40 3000 NOILYIOT AONIDY JHL OL IDYSSIN HIISNVHL

SANM4 IHL 40 NOILYIHISSYTO ONY INISSID0H Q3LYWOLNY

JHL Y04 MOTTV OL GILVLS SV HINNVIN 35193Hd FHL NI FDVSSIN
LISOd30 Y3ISNVHL SANNS IHL NO HYIddY LSNIN LI "JINVLHOJWI
TYOILIYD 40 SI NALI SIHL ~ (97v) 3009 NOLLYI0T AINTOY ©

*apoa Jonpoud

oY) Jeye palejus aq Jsnwi yse|s y “suopdo sydy syl Buisn ‘ajelidosdde

4} "passlua aq Aew sanfea JaYID "plel) 1Xe} JOASIIRI AU} U} wial) 181y} By} aq
PINOYs iajsues} JBWOISND Joj 419, 40 8p03 Janpoid v - 3009 LING0YA (8]

"B SILf} J8)Ua ||im jueq Buipuss sy - JAN
SV3tL, st sabessaw ysodap Joj sureu sAinseal} - IWYN-140-4IAII3Y (/]

"UoJRLLIOJ SILj)

Masuj Afleanewone |jm yueg 9/IasaY [elaps] au) — IWYN-14G-HIANIS ©
“way

sIu} apia0ad ||im Joysodap 3y ‘Jeuondo si g, u} 40 asn “uiod jewaap
PUE SeLILIOD LM pajenjound aq Jsnw Junowe Jsjsuel} oYL — INNOKY ©

“uoNBIISIP SY 18 Jaquiny
83U8.8Ja1 1810eIYD-9 | Sy} Lasul [jim Yueq Bupuss ay) — #J34-4IaNIS (v}

“Jaquinu sy apiaoad [jim yueq Buipuss ay) - #140-430N3S ©
*9p02

ad/iqns pue ad) sy} apinoxd || yueq BuIpUSS By1 ~ 09-3dALENS-3AL @

"¥000£0120
s| sabesss 1150dap Jo} Jaquiny ygy s/unseal| — #40-93039H ©@

N

. e
—— S N
o L,
L 1=

"Mojaq paquosap
St Plal passquinu y3e3 “mojeq AInseal] o} abiessaw |43 adwes ey aeg

*sabessaw

(143} eysust spuny 9juoN9)3 |18 Joy Tewuoy Aped-piy) painonys
PJepuels s,pieog aaiasay [eIapad au) ylim Sa|dwiod mojaq jeiilo)
abessaw aiim Iseq ayL “wialsAg sodaq aumpad (Kinseay I1) Ainsealj
ay} Jo auiedaq "N oy} YBNOIY} spuny sA180al LD GYN YL

"¥55L-611 (L0€) 1e)iseq

djaH a1qeA1898y SIUN029Y JUN ay1
1€ 10 679 Wiod gyN, Jo} yaleas pue
AoB 3Iummmy/:diy o 06 §zg wio4
O4N 1o Adoo e ulelqo o] "oy ay)

uo suoi39s1ip au) Buimo||o) 629 w04
OUN Xe} 0 |lew 0s[e Aewl NOA

*uoireuLIoju|

pa.inba yy 4ajua pue ,see4 uojssitwo) AiojenBay Jeajony s,
d0j yaseas ‘A06°Ard 01 06 ‘paea Jpald Aq Juswied Jog '66°666'7¢$
0} dn 4o sjuawied pJes paid sydasoe Apueind s| HYN ayy

¥852-G1y (10€)

1ejsaQ diaH e1qeAIaoey sunoaoy DHN oy Builjes Ag uuioj e ujelqo
05[e UEd NOA ,"829 W04 YN, 20 Buiyoseas Aq AoBasummmyy/:dny

1e 8IS Qam DHN U} WwoJ) g29 W04 YN Jo Adod e ujelqo Aew noA
"uonnnsui fejoueul 1nok o} gzg wiod 9y Jo Adoa e apiaoad (g3
/HOY) abueyoisu eleq 9juo.jae|3/asnoybuLies)y pajewiony Aq Aed o}

ISMOHE

a3ivWOLNv A4 ._.

"MO[9q PaqUISap SPoYIaW ayy sjdaode JyN

"UOI1O8{|0Y UoieWLIoU B} ‘0) puodsal o} paiinbal

1ou sy uosiad e pue ‘10suods 10 Jonpuod Jou Aew JYN 9y} JagquINU
10u09 AN PifeA ApusLIng e Aejdsip 10U S30p UONY3}{0D UOYBWLIOjU]
Ue asodLul 0} pasn suesw e J| "£050Z O ‘uolbuiysep, ‘1abpng pue
Juawabeuey 40 20110 (0610-05L€) 198(oi4 uonanpay Jomiadey

aU3 03 pue ‘1000-55502 9 ‘uoibuiyse ‘uoissiwwiog Alofejnbay
JeajdnN "s'n (£€4-91) yourig Jusiuslieueyy spiosay sy 0f sjewse
UapINQ 0} IN0qe SJUBWIOD PIEMIO] 'SPOYISW JusLiAed ajqejieas
inoqe uonewojul sapiAcld 81Nyo0aq SIYL "se)nuiw g 1sanbal
uofa8}j03 Asejunion siyl yim Adwoo o} ssuodsal Jad uaping pejewns3

0610-0S1€ "ON :9INO A8 QIAQYIdY



